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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

DONNNA M. GRITTERS,
Plaintiff,
Case Nol14 C 916
V.
Judge Jorge L. Alonso
OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC;
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC; and
PIERCE & ASSOCIATES, P.C.,
Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

For the following reasons, Defendant Pierce & Associates, P.C.’s Motiddufamary
Judgment [185] islenied Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment Against Defend@rgrce
& Associates, P.C.[196] is granted DefendantOcwen Loan Servicing, LLC’s Motion for
Summary Judgment [188s granted in part and denied in part, and Plaintiffs Motion for
Summary Jdgment Against Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, [28@ranted in part
and denied ipart

Before turning to the discussionhet Court notes at the outset the difficulties it
encountered with the partiegresentations. Firscomplaint allegationgre not proper support
for asserted statements of famhdto the extent anasserted faatassupported onlyn this way,
it wasnot considered. Secondisputes of asserted facgipported onlyith arguments instead
of citations to the recordre also improperWherea pary failed toproperly supporits dispute,
the asserted facts were deemed undisputed. Thedgartiespractice of citingengthyexhibits
without page or line referengeand theparties’ multiple mathematical errors and/or scrivener’s

errorsunnecessarilgomplicated the Court’s review of a significant factual record.
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BACKGROUND

Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are undisputed. In PabBaGritterstook
out a mortgage loan witlihe Federal Homéoan MortgageCorporation(“Freddie Mat) for
her home Ocwen Loan Servicingserviced thdoan from Augus009 until May2013. The
loan was in default at the time Ocwen acquired the servicing rights, and in Febru@ry 201
Ocwen’scounselPierce& Associatesfiled for foreclosure againgritters Pierce is a law firm
in the business of collecgdebts. Shortly thereafterf-reddie Mac approved Ocwen’s request to
consider a loan modification, after consideration of a breakdown of payoff funds including such
items as loan principal andtarest, and 300 in estimatedforeclosure feesand $1,322 in
estimated foreclosure expenses.

A loan modification greement was entered into by the parties a few weeksadkean
effective dateof March 4, 2010.Following aninitial payment byGritters and the entry of the
agreement, henew principal balance was $62,691.3kcrow balance was $927.85, and
suspense account balance was $994.04. [Pl Resp. Ocwen SOFWB6r Gritters called
Ocwen on April 1, 2010, it confirmed receipt of thequired initial payment. Ocwen also
entered notes into its loan servicing system dired®iegceto put theforeclosureaction on hold.
Theforeclosure action was ndismissegdhoweveruntil more than a year latesn May 6, 2011,

In order to effectuate the loan modificati@cwen made a series of credits and debits to
Gritters’ loan between April 6 and April 27, 2046d the loan was brought contractually current
on April 27, 2010. Ocwensent several account statements to Gritters during this siomee
with conflicting information. Among the various activities on the account that moerttairc

expenses incurred in filing the foreclosure action were charg€ditierson April 6, and then



credited back on April 27because théoreclosure costs were included in the new principal
balance under the Loan Modification.O¢wenSOF ®; Pl Resp. Ocwen SOF 9

On May 21, 2010, Ocwen assessed $700 for attorneys’ fees related to the foreclosure
based on an invoice it received frdtrercein April. On May 27, 2010, Ocwen receive$é25
paymentfrom Gritters It applied $624.260 her June 201Qpayment, and $.74 towards the
foreclosure attorneys’ feesharge On June 14, 2010, Ocwen made an investor suspense
adjustment to the log applying $624.96 of the $994.04 suspense account to Gritidy2010
payment obligation, and the remaining $369.78haforeclosure attorneys’ fees chargécwen
similarly applied certain portions of Gritter8ugust September, and Octob2010 @myments to
the attorneys’ fees chargén December 2010, Ocwerceived &48 bill for an assignment fee
in conjunction with the prior foreclosure action, which it assessed to Gritters in April 2011
Pierce testified that understoodhe assignmerthagewasnot to be passed on to the borrower,
but also that it was Ocwen’s decision whether to do so.

Following the modificationGritterswas latein making several of her monthly payments
and she missed certain payments. Gritters testified sheohiatbwledge of anything Ocwen did
to cause her payments to be late. When she was late, Ocwen assessed late fees.

In March 2011, Ocwen projected an escrow shortage for the coming year aseldadvi
Gritters that her escrow payments and correspondingly, her monthly installmterndsincrease.
From April 2010 through March 2011, $4,250.07 was paid from Gritters’ escrow account to
taxes and insurance. Around April 2011, Gritters discovered that her house wadestilinlis
foreclosure. Gritters stated in a declaration that she called Catveen it, andvas told thaher

loan was current, and no foreclosure had been initiated.



Grittersalsohad difficulty understanding Ocwen’s accounting. Between April 2010 and
April 2011, Ocwen sent Gritters statements she testified she did not understand,|leasd at
during that first month, statements that were contradictory. Gritters testified #hatash
confused about the loan’s status, and began to suffer from anxiety and panic attackding\ccor
to Gritters, she felt like she was in a perpetual state of default, and st tfegt she would lose
her home. She communicated her confusion and sought information from Ocwen both through
phone calls and letters.

In thesummer of 2011, Gritters reached out to the Office of the lllinois Attorney Genera
to dispute Ocwen’s handling of her account emdequestssistance Between2011 and 2012
Gritters sent four such letters tlee lllinois Attorney Genera Office, which forwarded each to
Ocwen. In September 201%ritters sent a fifthequest for information to Ocwen. Although the
parties dispute whether these five lettieiggered response obligations under federal law and if
so whether Ocwen responded adequately, it is undisputed that Ocwen responded to each.

Meanwhile, in May 2013, servicing of Gets’ account was transferréd@m Ocwen to
Nationstar. Gritters was notified of the transfer, aimdormed she had been assigned a single
point of contact at Nationstar. At thiene of the transfer, both Ocwen and Nationstar considered
the loanto be in default. On August 1, 2013, Nationstar sent Grittertetter attempting to
collect a defaulted amount &83,345.59 by September 5, 2013. Plaintiff's attemptgaatial
payment were rejected by Nationstar.

In August 2013, Gritters complained ttee Office of the lllinois Attorney Generalbout
Nationstarand Ocwen In September 2013, the Attorn®eneral’s Office forwarded héetter to
Nationstar for response. When Nationstar respondegpidrted that ithad investigated the

complaint anddeterminedthat no changes to the account were warrant€h September6,



2013, Gritters against wrote to Nationstar requesting numerous categories ofatidorm
Gritters dubbed her letter a Qualified Written Request urider Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act Nationstar timely respondegyoviding a copy of the Note and Security
Instrument, the May 31, 2013 servicing transfer notice, a payoff statement good through
September 30, 2013, and payment history on the account from May 21, 2013 through the date of
the response.

Around the same time, Nationsteetained Pierce ams foreclosure counsel Pierce
assigned the referral a new file numifrem the one associated with the 2010 Ocwen referral.
On September 16, 201Bierce sent Gritters a “loss mitigation solicitation lett@n” behalf of
Nationstayin which it invited her to provide Nationstegertaininformation to determine whether
she was eligible for alternatives to foreclosurBierce next communicatedittv Gritters on
October 25, 2013, when it informduer thatit had been hired by Nationstar to commence
foreclosure proceedings. Pierc®stober 25etter provided Gritters with the total amount of
debt due on the mortgage and note, and identified Nationstar as the crédélso included
debt validation laguage undeg 1692 of the FDCPA. At the time, Nationstar was servicing the
loan and Freddie Mac was the investor.

On November 11, 2013, Gritters’ counsel sent a “Fair Debt Colle&ranticesDispute
Letter” to NationstarMortgagec/o Pierce & Assoeites requesting that both Nationstar and
Pierce verify the debt pursuant to 15 U.§§.692g. BotlPierceand Nationstaacknowledged
receipt shortly thereafter and promised a response. On November 2I8, 3, Nationstar
respondedo Gritters’ letter again providing a copy of the Note a8eécurity Instrument, the
May 31, 2013 servicing transfer notice payoff statement good through September 30, 2013,

and payment history on the account from May 21, 2013 through the date of the resperse.



did not provide a separate response to Gritters’ November 11, 2013 request, testitgad ins
that ithad relied upon Nationstar’s response.

In January 2014, Pierce filed a foreclosure clanmp against Gritters in the Circuit Gad
of Cook County. In March 2014, Pierceent Gritters a “Notice of Initial Case Management
Conference’in the foreclosure action. This action was filed in the interim, in February 2014.

ANALYSIS
Summary Judgment Standard

“The court shall grant summary judgment if tii@vant showshat there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattet dfddw.

R. Civ. P. 56(a). When deciding cras®tionsfor summary judgment, the Court must “construe
the evidence and all reasonable inferences in favor of the party against whomitimeunadér
consideration is made.Premcor USA, Inc. v. Amer. Home Assurance €00 F.3d 523, 526

(7th Cir. 2005). Theaurt may not weigh evidence or determine the truth of the matters asserted.
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inét77 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

A “genuine” dispute is one that could change the outcome of the suit, and is supported by
evidence sufficient to all@ a reasonable jury to return a favorable verdict for themowing
party. Spivey v. Adaptive Mktg. LL®22 F.3d 816, 822 (7th Cir. 2010). The court will enter
summary judgment against a party who does not “come forward with evidence that woul
reasonhbly permit the finder of fact to find in [its] favor on a material questioklédrowski v.
Pigatto, 712 F.3d 1166, 1167 (7th Cir. 2013).

Pierce’s Summary ddgment Motion/ Gritters’ Crossviotion
Pierceargues at the outset that Gritters fails to demonstrate a compemteularized

injury sufficient to establish Article 1l standing. Even if she could ms&keh a showing, Pierce



says, summary judgment woustll be appropriate becauségl) Grittersknew of her right under

8 1692¢g to regest veification of her mortgage debt, and when she did request verification, it
was providedy the loan servicer as well as by Pier@ any failure to disclose thidentity of

the holder of her mortgageas immaterial since Gritters knew &nd (3) the foreclosure case
notice thatPierce forwarded to Gritters did not violate the FDCPAI®hibition against
contacting a represented debtadirectly since the court permitted it and it was not a
communication sent in connection with the collection of a debt.

Gritters crossmoves for summary judgmenagainst Piergearguing Pierce’s FDCPA
violationsgave rise tocognizable injuriesn-fact without the need for further evidence of injury
or actual damages order to establish standingAccording to Gritters, summary judgment in
her favor is appropriate since there isquestion of material fact th&ierce (1) failed to send
her a debt validation letter within the statutory tifreeme following its initial communication
with her, (2) failed to disclose the identity of the current creditor of her mortgagewben it
sent its untimely debt validation letter; §8)led to verify her debt in response to her dispute; and
(4) communicated with her directly despite knowing she was septed byounsel.

Standing

In orderto establish Article IIl standing plaintiff must establish that sh@l) suffered
an injury in fact, (2) that is fairly traceable to the challenged conduct of teaddmt, and (3)
that is likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decisi@pbkeo, Inc. v. Robin$36 S.Ct.
at 1547(citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wdlife, 504 U.S. 555, 5661 (1992)). “To establish
injury in fact, a plaintiff must show that he or she suffered ‘an invasion of a legaligcped
interest’ that is ‘concrete and particularized’ and ‘actual or imminent, not atorgé or

hypothetical.” Id. at 1548 (quoting with alteratidrujan, 504 U.S. at 560). “A ‘concrete’ injury



must be de facto’; that is, it must actually exist.Id. at 1548. “Concrete™ is not, however,
necessarily synonymous with ‘tangible.td. at 1549. “Although tangle injuries @ae perhaps
easier to recognize, . . . intangible injuries can nevertheless be contdet®."determining

whether an intangible harm constitutes a sufficiently concrete injlogth“history and the
judgment of Congress play important role&d:

In several preSpokeo FDCPA cases, the Seventh Circuit recognized standing to
challenge unlawfludebt collection demands even without proof of additional haBee, e.g.,
Keele v. Wexler149 F.3d 589, 594 (7th Cir. 1998) (standing existed based “on the debt
collector's misconduct, not whether the debt is valid .or whether the consumer has paid an
invalid debt.”); Phillips v. Asset Acceptance Cor.36 F.3d 10761082-83 (7th Cir. 2013)
(standing existed where debt collectors had filed allegedly unlawful suits tagamsumers,
even though consumers had not been sen@pdykeadoes not disturb these holdingSee, e.g.,
Aguirre v. Absolute Resolutions Carpo. 15 C 11111, 2017 WL 4280957, atrid3(N.D. Il
Sept. 27, 201)7(collecting cases findingrticle 11l standing to sue for statutory damages under
the FDCPAon clams of intangle injuries from allegedly predatory debt collection prac)ices

Since the Supreme Court’s decisionSpokeothe Seventh Circuit has interpretedat
mean that a statutory violation alone gives rise to a concrete harm where thigofviptasent[s]
an appreciable risk of harm to the underlying concrete interest that Congresistsqurgtect by
enacting the statute” at issueroshek v. Time Warn&€able, Inc, 865 F.3d 884, 887 (7th Cir.
2017) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citiveyers v. Nicolet Rest. of De Pere, L1823
F.3d 724, 727 (7th Cir. 20163pokep 136 S.Ct. at 15480). I those cases, the plaintiffeed
not allege anyadditional harm beyond the one Congress has identifie8gokep 136 S.Ct. at

1549. Under these authorities, several district courts have fthatd misrepresentation about a



debt is a sufficient injury for standing because a primary purpose of the FDQBAristect
consumers from receiving false and misleading informadbout one’s debtsSee, e.g.,
Marquez v. Weinstein, Pinson & Riley, PISo. 14 C 739, 2017 WL 4164170, at *4 (N.D. Ill.
Sept. 20, 2017)Pierre v. Midland Credit Mgmt., IncNo. 16 C 2895, 2017 WL 1427070, 4t *
*4 (N.D. lll. Apr. 21, 2017) Accordingly, becausé&rittershad a right to receive information
under the FDCPA that she claims was not providde, alleges a concrete hasufficient to
giverise to Article Il standing

Section 1692@)

Gritters argues summary judgmestiould be granted in her favioecause Pierdailed to
provide hemwith adebt validation letter within five days of i&ptember 162013letter toher in
connectim with its efforts to collect thdeld. Pierce admits that it is a debt collector, and that it
did not send the debt validation lettettil October 25, 2013, but sagsatjudgmentin its favor
should nevertheless be granteztause itSeptembetetter was not an “initial communication”
triggering disclosure obligations under tR®OCPA. Pierce bases this argumdmith on the
claim that its September letteras simply informational, and on the fact that it had previously
communicated with Gritters in 2010 when she had fallen behind on her moriyage.Gritters
does not dispute the 2010 communications, s they ard@relevant since they were years
earlier and on behalf of a different client

Within five days of its initial communication with a consumer, a debt collector must
provide certain information to the consumer in what is known as a “debt validation” leter
U.S.C. § 1692¢g(a). The notice must inform the debtor of the amount of the debt and the name of
the creditor to whom the debt is owed, and state that the deliterabsumed valid if the debtor

does not dispute its validity within 30 days of receipt of the notice. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1692¢8x)(1)



It must also include a statement that if the debtor disputes the debt within 30 daysaifdbe

the debt collector wllobtain and send the debtor verification of the debt, and upon written
request, send the debtor the name and address of the current creditor, ifhtdiffare the
original creditor. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4p). “For the FDCPA to apply, . . . two threshold
criteria must be met.”"Gburek v Litton Loan Seig., LP, 614 F.3d 380, 384 (7th Cir. 2010).
First, the defendant must qualify as a “debt collector” under the statute, and sebend, “
communication by the delabllector that forms the basis of the suit must have been made ‘in
connection with the collection of any debt.Td. at 384 (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6), 88
1692c(a)-(b), § 1692e, § 1692Q).

Pierce argues that because its SeptembeR@83,letter dd not include a demanfibr
payment,t was not sent in connection with the collection of a ddbtGburek however the
Seventh Circuitrejected such a claim, finding instead that defendant servicing compettgis
offering “foreclosure alternativesand requesting certain financial informatiovas sent in
connection with the collection of a delblgspitethe factthat it had not demanded a payment
Gburek 614 F.3d aB385 (there is no “categorical rule that only an explicit demand for payment
will qualify as a communication made in connection with the collection of a’defwhether
the letter contained a demand for payment, the Seventh Circuit explaaednly one factor
that courtamight considerin assessing whether a communication was made in connection with
the collection of a debtId.; accord Matmanivong v. Nat'| Creditors Connection, Jnt9 F.
Supp. 3d 864, 875 (N.D. Ill. 2015) (“The court [Bburek made clear that a debt collector need
not demand payment for the FDCPA to applyCpurts shouldalso consider the nature of the
parties’ relationship, thebjectivepurpose and context of the communicatiand whether the

communication was made in order to induce the debtor to settle theldiedit385-86.
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Applying theGburekfactors hergPierce’s Septembd6, 2013letteris a communication
in connection with the collection of a debthe only relationship Pierdead withGritters arose
out of Gritters’ defaulted debt.At the time Pierce sent its letter, Gritters’ loaas in default,
and the lettewvas an invitation to settle her dedmd avoid foreclosure. [Dkt 183 at 50.]
Among other thingsPierce “strongly recommend[ed] that [Gritters] consult an attorney to
preserve [her]legal rights,” andinvited Gritters tocontact Nationstar to be evaluated for
repayment plan, loan modification, deed in lieu of foreclosure, reinstatevhéet loan or a
preforeclosure sale[ld.] Pierce’s lettelincludedthe initial communication warning required
under 15 US.C. § 1692e¢(11) “YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT THIS
COMMUNICATION IS AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT. ALL INFORMATION
OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE.”I(ﬂ.]1

Pierce tries to distinguisBburekby emphasizig that unlike the communicatioat issue
there, its letter did not request financial informatiomhis is not entirely so.Piercés letter
requestedhat Gritters completeertaindocuments Nationstdmay have previously sentgnd
provide certain information in order to bensideredor foreclosurealternatives or, if she did
not have those documents,contact Nationstasy phonein order to obtain them[ld.] Justas
the servicer’'s request fdmancial information inGburek Piercés request was to initiate the
process of discussing foreclosure alternative¥iewing the purpose and context of the
communication objectively, Pierce’s letiera communication in connection with an attempt to
collect a debt.

Finally, Pierce arguewithout authoritythat its letter was not an “initial communication”

because it had previdyscommunicated with Gritterseveral years earlier on behalf of a

! The inclusion of this disclaimer “does not automatically trigger the piotectof the

FDCPA,” but is only dactor inthe Court’s determinationGburek 614 F.3d at 386 n. 3.
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different servicer Ocwen,when she hagbreviouslyfallen behnd on her mortgage.Standing
alone sucha cursory argumentould be rejected out of han&eelong v.Teachers Retirement
Sys. of lll, 585 F.3d 344, 349 (7th Cir. 200@arty may waive an issue Iperfunctory and
undevelped argument Theargument however, is rejected on its merits. Notably, Gritters’
loan was brought current in 2010 and Pierce’s retention on beh@ltwén was terminated.
Pierce was retained in 2013 by a new client, Nationstar, opened a new filelednd fiew
foreclosure lavsuit The fact that Pierce undertook efforts to collect on Gritters’ mortgage year
earlier on behalf oOcwen cannot insulate Pierckom liability for its actions on behalf of
Nationstay especially where thérst retentionwas successfully resolved To hold otherwise
would suggest a major loophole in the FDCPA, inconsistent with its purpose.

It is undisputed that Pierce did rend its debt validation letter until Octobér, 2013,
more than a monthfterits initial communication. [Pierce ResPSOF  15.]Relying largely
on nonbindingcasedrom other jurisdictionsPierce argues that this “technical violatistiould
be overlookedecausé&sritters nevertheless knew her validation rights. To determine whether §
1692g applies to each debtlleator or only to the first debt collector to communicate with the
debtor, the Court begins with the statutory language. The language of the stanlieyisoas,
referring to theinitial communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any
debt,” but followed closely thereafter with “a debt collectod5 U.S.C.§ 1692g. Given the
FDCPA's remedialpurpose of curbing alsive debt collection practicel)is Courtagrees with
the tend of courts in this Distridghat 8 1692g applies &®ach successive debt collestand not
only to the first in line. See e.g.,Sanchez v. Jackspho. 16CV-6144, 2016 WL 6833974 at

**4-6 (N.D. lll., Nov. 11, 2016) (collecting cag; Janetos v. Fulton, Friedman & Gullace, LLP
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No. 12-CV-1473, 2013 WL 791325 at *6\.D. Ill. March 4, 2013); Francis v. Snyder389 F.
Supp. 2d 1034, 1040 (N.D. lll. 2008)The requirement of providing valid disclosures under 8
16929 applies to each debt collector.”). Requiring successive collectors to confply:802g
is likewise consistent with the Federal Trade Commission’s interpretatioe sfatuteand does
not create a heavy burden on successive debt colle@eeSanchez2016 WL 6833974 at *5;
Janetos 2013 WL 791325 at *5Pierce was obliged to send a validation letter within the
statutory time frameand it is undisputed it failed to do sounSimary judgment for Gritters on
this claim isgranted

GivenPiercés violation of § 1692g(a), the analysis coaldd here. “Statutory damages
are subject to a cap of $1,000 per suit, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2)(A), no matter how many
violations of the Act a given debt collector commitSinith v. Grestone Alliance, LLC772 F.
3d 448, 449 (7th Cir. 2014)Neverthelessthe Court will consider the other alleged FDCPA
violations, as the analysis might be relevant to determining statutory damage$5 U.S.C.
81692k(b) (isting factors that should be considered in determining damagesding “the
frequency andpersistenceof noncompliance by the debt collector, the nature of such
noncompliance, and the extent to which such noncompliance was intentjosak”)also
Matmanivong 79 F. Supp. 3d at 877.

According to Gritters, when Pierdmally sent its debt validation lettats identification
of Nationstarand not Freddie Mac as the credifiarther violated the Act. Specificallghe says,

Pierce violagéd 8 1692g(a)(2)by falsely stating thereditar was Nationstarand § 1692eby

2 The Seventh Circuit ultimately reversed a subsequent decision of the DEsitidt granting
summary judgment to defendaoi this claim and ordered that judgment be entered for the
plaintiff. See Janetos v. Fulton, Friedman & Gullace, |.BR5 F.3d 317 (7th Cir. 2016). As the
Court observed irsanchezhowever, [l]t defies logic that the[Seventh Circuit] would grant
relief for violations of§ 1692g if it doubted the applicability the provision to the communication
at issue.”2016 WL 6833974, at *6.

13



using a false, deceptive, or misleading representation in connectiornsagfifiorts to collect the
debt. Pierce disagrees, arguing that any technical violaitging from its failure to name the
creditor in additiond the servicein its communicatiordid not confuse Gritterss not material
and isdefeated by the fact that Gritters knew all alongitlemtity of the creditor, and how to
exercise her validation rights.

The Seventh Circuis recent decision idanetos v. Fulton, Friedman & Gullace, LLP
825 F.3d 317 (7th Cir. 20)6ejects argumeastsimilarto thosewhich Pierce makes here. In that
case, plaintiff complained thahe defendant law firm’s communications did not identify the
current creditoAsse Acceptance, LLC, as such, but instead identifie the “assignee” of the
original creditor, andtatedthat the account had been “transferred” to the law.fiffimding the
misrepresentation immaterial, and thia plaintiff had failed to supporny claimed confusion
with extrinsic evidence, the district court granted summary judgment for whdirta. The
Seventh Circuit reversed with instructions to enter judgment for the plaagiféeing thathe
lettersdid not clearly state who owned tebt and holding that neither evidence of materiality
nor consumer confusion were necessary to estales81692g(a)(2) violation.See idat 322
24 (“We decline to offer debt collectors a free pass to violate that provision on trg that the
disclosure Congress required is not important enough.”) As the Court explainedoriSecti
1692g(a) requires debt collectors to disclose specific information, including the oéthe
current creditor, in certain written notices they send to consumerdettéafails to disclos¢éhe
required information clearly, it violates the Act, without further proofaiffusion.” Id. at 319
Under ths reasoningand in accordance with the objective unsophisticated consumer standard,
whether Gritters understood Nationstar’'s role as servigereviously knew that Freddie Mac

owned the debtor could have figured it out despitehat Piercenhad written is all beyond the

14



point. See idat 322 “[A] lucky guess would have nothing to do with any disclestire letters
provided. Compliance wh the clear requirements of 392g(a)(2) demands moreld. at 324.
By failing to clearly disclose the name of “the créali to whom the debt is owedPierce’s
validation notice violated the Act, without any need for extrinsic evidence of confusion.
Summary judgments likewise grantedor Gritterson her8 1692(e) claim. Section
1692e provides that “[a] debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or migleadi
representation or means in connection with tiollection of a debt.” The Seventh Circuit
recognizes three categories of § 1692e cadgswhere theallegedly offensive language is
plainly and clearly not misleading?2) where thdanguage is not misleading or confusing on its
face, but may potentially mislead the unsophisticated consumé(3) where thelanguage is
plainly deceptive or misleading.oxv. CDA, Ltd, 689 F.3d818, 822(7th Cir. 2012) Pierce’s
failure to identify Gritters’ creditor falls into the third category becausentapoed a plainly
deceptive statement that is likely to mislead the unsophisticated consBesetahn v. Triumph
P’ships LLC, 557 F.3d 755757-58(7th Cir. 2009) Accordingly,there isno need foextrinsic
evidence.See Rutlv. Triumph P’ships577 F.3d 790, 801 (7th Cir. 2009).
Gritters must also establish that Pierce’s misstatement was matesidtierce correctly
notes, alebt collector’s false statement only viola§es692e if is material See Hahn557 F.3d
at 757 (“Materiality is an ordinary element of any federal claim based on a falsesleading
statement.”) If a debt collector’s false statement does not affect a consumer’s ability to échoos
intelligently” and the false statement would not “mislead the unsophisticated consumer,” then the
statement does not cditgte a violation o 1692e See id.at 75758. Herg too,the reasoning
of Janetoss instructive. Although theSeventh Circuitejected amateriality requirement under

8 1692¢g(a)(2), it cautionenh dicta that this did notsuggest the required information is not
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important.” Janetos$ 825 F.3d 317, 325To the contrarythe court observedCongress included
the creditor's identity in the list of required disclosifgecause ithad determinedsuch
information helps consumechoose intelligently. As theoart explained knowing theidentity
of thecurrent creditor “potentially affects thelotor in the most basic waysld. at 325(internal
guotation and citation omitted) Because the identity of th@editorwas material, and Pierce
failed to provide it, its letter was plainly deceptive. Summary judgment for Gittettsis claim
is granted.
15 U.S.C. § 1692D)

Pierce’s October 25, 2013 validation letslvisedGritters that she had thirty days to
disputeits validity and that if she did, Pierce would mail her proof of the debt. [Dkt51B7It
is undisputed that on November 11, 2013, Gritteminselrequestedrerification of the debt
from both Pierce and Nationstar a letter sent to Pierce’s office[Pierce RespPSOF{ 20.]
Specifically, hercounseldirectedthat “[b]oth Nationstar and Pierce must verifystdebt within
30 days of receipt of this letter pursuant to 15 U.8.0692g by sending written verification of
the debt . . .” [Id.] In a letter dated November 21, 20Hierce acknowledgedeceipt of
Gritters’ letter and advised“You will receive aresponse in writing to the letter once we have
completed all of our research and review of the fildd. { 21.] Piercedid not follow up with
the promised substantive response. Instead, Pielied on Nationstarto respond, which it did
in a letterdatedNovember 26, 20131d. 7 22; Pl Resp. SOMY 6163, 68] On January 22,
2014, Pierce filed a second foreclosure action against Gritters listingudtdifte of April 2013.
[Pierce Resp. PSOF24.]

Under 15 USC8 1692g(b), a debt collector must cease collection of a debt or any

disputed portion thereof if the consumer notifies the collector in writing that she edisiet
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debt within thirty days of receiving the disclosures required u8d&692g(a).According to
Gritters, beause Pierce failed to validabte cease collection activities in response to her dispute,
it violated § 1692g(b). Pierce argues to the contrary, emphasittiag Gritters addressduker
correspondenc® “Nationstar Mortgage c/o Pierce & Assaigs, P.C.,’and suggesting was
an“attempt to elicit hypetechnical violations of the FOPA” [Seedkt 186 at 23.]At the time
the letter was sent however, both Nationstar and Pierce wexempting to collect the debt
Gritters was entitled undethe FDCPA to dispute her dehith both and to requiréoth to
respond. Seel5 U.S.C.8 1692g(b). Regardless of how tlaeldress was writterthe letter’s
primary purpose was clear, and éspressstatement€ompelledboth Nationstar and Pierde
respnd. See Bowse v. Pdolio Recovery Asssg LLC, 218 F. Supp3d 745, 751 (N.D. lIl.
2016) (decision tesend letter to general couns#il not indicate attempt to obsculetter’s
contenty. Pierce’s argument that it couletly on Nationstar's responsgverlooks its own
obligations to validate the debt. “A consumer’s right to dispute a debt even without a valid
reason is clearly conferred by the FDCPA&bwse 218 F. Supp. 3d at 752.
16 U.S.C. § 1692c

Finally, Gritters argues th&lierce violated§8 1692c by sendindper a notice ofditial
CaseManagementConferencein the foreclosure action had filed, despit&knowing she was
represented by counsel6 U.S.C. § 1692c(a)(Prohibits a debt collector from communicating
directly with a consumer itrows is represented by an attorney unless the attorney fails to
respond within a reasonable time to a communication from the debt collector ototineyat
consents to direct communication with the consumer. According to Pierce, sendingidée not
was notan effort to collect a depaandmeets thestatutoryexception for communications sent

with “the express permission of a court of competent jurisdiction,” 15 U.&.C692c(a).
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Further, Pierce addsny technical violation should be overlooked since Notice asked for
nothing,andonly advied Gritters of the date and time for court.

Pierce’s arguments notwithstanding, the notice was sent in connection withl¢téaol
of a debt, under the same reasoninGblirek 614 F.3d at 384, as discussed abdyeeGburek
614 F.3d at 384Melnarowicz v. Pierce & Asgs, P.C, No. 14CV-7814, 2015 WL 4910748 at
**4-5 (N.D. lll. Aug. 17, 2015) (notice of initial case management conference wasnse
connection with the collection of a debtlhe contextherewas a foreclosuraction, and the
purpose of the blice, at least in part, was to prosecute the lawsaiid ‘thus, tdoreclose and
make good the debt.’"Melnarowicz 2015 WL 4910748 at *5.The Notice advised of a ad
date in the case, and invited Gritters to look into the “Mortgage ForeclosureatMadi
Program.” [Pl. Resp. Pierce SOF73 and Pierce Dep. at Exh. 20 [dkt 1B7at 67]]
Accordingly, it was an invitation to resolve a debt.

It is undisputed thadt the time Pierceent theNotice it knew Gritters was represented
by counsel with regard to the debt. Accordinglyyés prohibited from communicating with her
directly. Nothing in the FDCPA limits this protectiamhere a foreclosure action is inteal, see
Marquez 836 FE3d at 810812 (noting pleadings or filings can fall within the FDCPAhd
nothing requiredGritters’ FDCPAcounselto also represent her in the foreclosure proceeding.
Further, the notice was not sent with the “express permissiotfie foreclosure court as Pierce
suggests. Rather, it was sent pursuant to a general order applicable in all ssichT oabe
extent Pierce’s obligations under the FDCPA cordticvith its obligations under the Cook
County orderthe requirements of the FDCPA take precedence, and Pierce could have sought

relief from the state court judg&ee Melnarowic2015 WL 4910748 at *5.
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The Court is not persuaded bipierces suggestion thaGritters’ pro sestatusin the
foreclosure actionvas intended to “elicit yet anothaypertechnical FCDPA violatiori. [Dkt
186 at 2930.] No facts in the record support thisachcterization. Summary judgment for
Gritters is granted on her § 1692c claim.

Ocwen’sSummary JudgmenMotion/ Gritters’ CrossMotion

Gritters seeks summary judgment on her claims that Oclreached the loan
modification agreementand violated the FDCPA, the lllinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive
Business Pmices Act (“ICFA”), 815 ILCS 505/1et seq. and theReal Estate Settlement
Procedures Act (“RESPA})12 U.S.C.8 2605, et seq. by failing to properly implement the
agreement and improperly treating her loan as in defdllkt 200.] Ocwen crossnovesfor
summary judgment on each of those counts as well as on Gritters’ breach @ryidiidy
claim, arguing that the undisputed evidence shows it complied with applicable |apvcpetly
handled her posnhodification payments and accouhy applying payments in accordance with
the order of priority set out in the mgage agreement.[Dkt 188.] Their arguments are
considered in turn.

Breach

According to GrittersOcwen booked the loan at a later date than it should laanke,
breached the loan modificati@greement when it assessgtD0 in foreclosure attorneys’ fees
since estimated fees were already a part of the loan modification’s recithtirprincipal
balance. Specifically, she sayd¢wen breached the agreemiéon at least” March 27, 2010,
June 14, 2010, August 19, 2010, September 15, 2010, October 25, 2010, and April 22, 2011, by
applyingportions of her payments these feesand by assessing improper late fegdkt 201 ]

Similarly, she says, Ocwen breadhthe contract by assessingbd8 assignment fee charge
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forwarded months after the modification was complete. For its part, Osagasummary
judgment should be granted in its favor beca@dsigters showso evidence imishandledher
account,and citesno specific contracprovision it allegedly breached. bBny eventjt adds,
Gritters cannot prevail on her claim because she breached the agrdieshemtd failed to
provide the required notice and opportunity to cure beftimg the instant actiori [Dkt 191.]

To establisha breach of contract underliois law, a plaintiff must show (1) the
existence of a valid and enforceable contract; (2) performance by the pl#B)tiéf;breach by
the defendant; and (4) resultant damagese McCleary v. Wells Fargo Sed_LC, 29 N.E.3d
1087, 1093 (lll. AppCt. 2015) accord Spitz v. Proven Winners N. Am., | .IZ69 F.3d 724, 730
(7th Cir. 2014). The parties do not dispute the existence of a valid and enforceadrecagrer
the substance dfs terms. Pursuant to the agreemef@ritters committed to pag modified
principal amount of $62,6934, as well as “fees and charges that were not includedisn th
principal balance.” [BOF14, Exh. BY 1] Theagreement furthgsrovided that “Any expense
incurred in connection with the servicing of your loan hoit yet charged to your account as of
the date of this Agreement may be charged to your account after the daseagfé&ament.” I¢l.
16(c).]

Gritterssupports heclaim of breactwith citationto Ocwen’sundisputednternal records
showingthatthe modificationagreemens new principal amounwvas prepared with calculations

including estimated foreclosusdtorneys’fees and expenses$ $1,822, and the undisputed fact

* Ocwen also seeks summary judgment on Gritters’ contract claim to the extent idsdnas
breach of the covenant of good faith, or premised on allegations that Piéecetdaiimely
dismiss the foreclosure actiofBecause Gritters has not resged to these arguments, she has
conceded them.SeeGreenlaw v. Unitedstates 554 U.S. 237, 2434 (2008) (noting general
rule that “adversary system is designed around the premise that the partieshataw lvest for
them, and are responsible for adeing the facts and arguments entiting them to relief”).
Accordingly, Ocwen’s motion is granted on these issues.
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that the actual fees and expensassociated with the foreclosuwere $1,582[Ocwen Resp.
PSOF I 4, 13-19 Because the estimated total fees and expenses, awsréOcwen
acknowledges, “ordered for purposes of calculating the modificé&ions” and the estimate
was more than wha&@cwenultimatelyincurred she says, Ocwdmadno basis in the contract to
charge heany more She furtheremphasizes the undisputed fétat bills for the foreclosure
attorneys’fees and expenses got to Ocwererathe loan modificatignandOcweris admission
that it did not chargeher for the expenses becausieey had already beeimcluded in the new
principal balance.[Pl Resp.OcwenSOF 9] As for the $48 assignment fee, shadies on
Pierce’s acknowledgment that it is the type of charge not typicallygass® the borrower.
Ocwen, on the other handjrges there can be no breach becatiseas specifically
authorizedunder theabove-quotegrovisions of thdoan modification greement to assess the
attorneys’ and assignmeifees since they were not included in the new principalance
Ocwenhighlightsthe contract languagauthorizing the imposition of expenses incurred but not
yet charged, the fact that thevoice from its foreclosure counsel pakttes the loan
modification, and the testimony @fcwenSenior Loan Analyst Heard Handville who testified
that the foreclosureattorneys’fees tad not been included in the modified principal amount
because thewere not known to Ocwen at the time of the proposed modification. Ocwen further
points toGritters’ testimony that she ad the modification and agreed to it based on its terms,
and no otherepresentations by Ocwen. [Pl R&3pwen SOM[16.] Ocwen adds oreply that
in any eventGritters can establish no damage from the assessment of the $748 bechese at t
time of loan modification Ocwehad credited her suspense balance with a $994.04 estimate for
them, and themount it laterappliedfrom herfunds was substantially less. [Dkt 218 a8]2

Even if this were true, Gritters says crossreply, Ocwen’sapplication of suspense account
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funds would still be a breach sinitewvould conflict with the priority of payments provision set
out in the original mortgage agreement. [Dkt 227 at 6.]

As the parties agree, Gritters’ breach of contract claim rests in large measure on the
application ofthe foreclosurerelated charges If the fees were included in theodification’s
principal balance, then Ocwen breached the contract when itechidwgm againand applied
certainof Gritters’ payments to those chargdtthey were noincluded in the principabn the
other handthen the déanmodification agreementuthorized Ocwen to charge thenccording
to Gritters Ocwen’s records and treatment of foreclosure costs support her version of the case
But as Ocwen pointsout, Handville’s testimony construing those same records support its
version. In the endaeh side presesevidence creating genuine issue of material fdot trial.

If the jury believe Gritters interpretation of Ocwen’secords and ltaracterization of the
foreclosure fees and expensescaiuld reasonablyind Ocwen breached the agreement by
assessingluplicative fees. If the jury believes Handville and Ocwen’s explanation of the
charges, and credits their interpretation of the contract, on the tathdr it could reasonably
concludethat Ocwen wasauthorizedo chargethe fees that it did Accordingly,the issue is one
best left for the jury to decide.

Notably, Ocwen’sbelatedargumentaboutthe suspense account does not change this
outcome. First, Ocwen failed to timely raise this argumé&eeCitizens Against Ruining The
Env't v. E.P.A.535 F.3d 670, 675 (7th Cir. 2008]i]t is improper for a party to raise new
arguments in a reply because it does not give an adversary adequate opporturyniad.yes
Moreover, even if it had been properly raised, Ocwen supports its assertion only with a
supplemental declaration of Ocwen Senior Loan Analyst Howard Handville in whattelsés:

[W]hen Ocwen modifies a loan that in default, Ocwen sometimes does not
received invoices from its vendors for servicing fees, such as forecledaied
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fees, until after the modification is completed. To account for such fees once they

are invoiced, Ocwen credits the loan’s unapplied funds balance (also known as

the suspense balance) during the modification process with its estimate of the

amount of the fees and then later applies from the borrowers’ account toward the

actual invoiced fees. ..

The Payment Reconciliation History reflects that Ocwen credited Plaintiff's

suspense balance $994.04 on April 27, 2010 as part of the modification process.

[Dkt 216, Handville Suppl. Decl. 11 12, 13.] Contrary to his supplemental declaration,
Handville previouslytestified that he did ot know whether the suspense balance was for
foreclosureattorneys’fees, and that he could not make the determination from Ocwen’s pay
history. [Seedkt 2151, Handville dep. at 53:121.] It is well settled that a party cannot use a
declaration to contradict a declarant’s prior deposition testimony to creggauine dispute.
See, e.g., Pourghoraishi v. Flying J, In#¢49 F.3d 751, 759 (7th Cir. 2006) (“A plaintiff cannot,
however, create an issue of material fact by submitting an affidavit thaadimts an earlier
deposition.”). Moreover, given the undisputed fact that Ocwen applied a portion of peasus
account funds to GrittersJuly 2010 bill before it had come due, an issue of fact would
nevertheless remain as to whether it breached the contract.

Ocwen’s argumenthat Gritters breached the contract fisdto does not preclude ¢h
need fortrial. As Gritters notesQDcwen’s earliest complaint of a late payment was August,2010
by which point Ocwenhad already charge@rittersthe disputedees. [Ocwen SOKY 15-19.]
Further,contrary to Ocwen’s assertioHukic v. Aurora Loan Sesv& Ocwen Loan Sety., 588
F.3d 20 (7th Cir. 2009)doesnot stand for proposition thatlender is excused froits breach
where theborrower fails to make a paymenSee id.(affirming summary judgment for lender

where borrower failed to provide required proof of payment of taxes and insurahcéhatic

lender was contractually authorized to also pay taxes andamse ando charge borrower for
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the same)Catalan v. GMAC Mortgage Corp629 F.3d 676, 6927th Cir. 2011) (rejecting
overly broad interpretation dfiukic). Tothecontrary, inHukic, theSeventh Circuispecifically
put to theside theparties’ dispute over whether the consumer had failedully pay on his
accountaffirming summary judgment for the lendeecause the contract authorizetb charge
the fees it hadharged regardless of whether the borrower had also failed to |s®e Hukic
588 F.3d at 433 Unlike in Hukic, moreover,there is noalleged relationshipbetween
nonpayment byrittersandOcwen’s authority to assess foreclosure .fees

Likewise, Ocwen’s brief argumentthat Gritters’ failed to provide the contractually
required notice and opportunity to cuaksodoes not defeat hetaim as a matter of lawFirst,
Ocwen has not established at the threshold blemiauseit used the title“lender’ in the
modification agreementhae was a corresponding expansion ofdkénition of“lender” in the
original mortgage agreementvhere the notice and opportunity to cure provisiorfoignd.
Second, even assumitige notice and cure provision of the mortgage agreeowaernd apply to
Ocwen,Gritters points to evidence of her multiple complaitesOcwenabout the propriety of
fees it assessaatior to herfiling of the instant action. BSOF 1 61-70, Exhs.H-5 and H9.]
Whether the provision applies to Ocwen, and jfvgloether Gritters complied whtit, are issues
to be determined another day.

The same cannot be said fas Gritters’ claim that following the loan modification,
Ocwen charged her late feeghteen timesat the rate of $18.44 instead of $15.1@ritters’
suppots her claim with reference tbe Handville’sdechration in which he recitabat Gritters
had accrued 18 late charges&i8.44that remained unpaid when servicing was transferred to
Nationstar, althouglhe citedrecord showsthat Ocwen had chargetthe contractually correct

late fee $15.22 [Dkt 189 74] This misstatemenivas repeated in Ocwen’s statement of facts.
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[Dkt 190.] Ocwen explaingts mistakesn reply asimmaterial“scrivener’s errors” in preparing
its materials. [Dkt 218 at 7.] While not excusin@cwen’s careles®ss in preparingts
statement ofactsor Handville’s declarationthe underlying records show thae late feesvere
imposedat the contractually authaed rate of $15.12 following the loan modification, and
Gritters submits 0 evidence tesuggest otherwise Because Gritters does not dispute that her
payments were latiseedkt Pl Resp. SOF {{ 430], and the contract allowed for the imposition
of late fees, to the extent Gritters’ claim is based on this claimed overchargeotionis
deniedand Ocwen’s motion is granted.

1692e and f*

Gritters next contends that Ocwen violated thBEPA by seding her three notices of
default,dated February 22, 2013, March 29, 2013, and April 27, 281i8a February 18, 2013
mortgage statement that misrepresented the status of the debt, sought amauitonnedy
contract o law, and threatenedreclosire if amounts were not paid by certain deadlingsder
her theorypecause Ocwemisstated the amount of dedmd the notices threatened foreclosure
the communicationare plainly deceptive and violatiee FDCPA without any extrinsic evidence
of confusion. Ocwen disagreeaguing at the outset th#te FDCPA does not applyo its
communicationsince they were naentin connection with the collection of a debt, andany
event, are not plainly deptive Without extrinsic evidence of how ansophisticated consumer
would view them Ocwen says, Gritters claim cannot withstand summary judgment

Whether communications are made in connection with the collection of a debt under the
FDCPA is determined “tlough the eyes of the unsophisticated consum&vahl v. Midland

Credit Mgmt., Inc. 556 F.3d 643, 645 (7th Cir. 2009) (internal quotations omitteAk

* Gritters’ motion to voluntarily dismiss her §32d claim [dkt 201 at 10 n.& granted.
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discussedibove, the Seventh Circlias identified several factors to bensideed in making
such adeterminationincluding the nature of the parties’ relationship, and the objective purpose
and context of the communicationSee Gburek614 F.3d at 384. The parties’ relationship here
was that of loan servicer and consumer debtor, and the purptise admmunications was to
advise Gritters of the amount she owed, and to elicit a payment from Asr.Ocwen
acknowledged, its notices of default, “provide[d] Gritters with an itemized lisieofpast due
amounts and explain[ed] what she must do to cure her payment default.” [Dkt 191 at 13.]
Further, the~ebruaryl8, 2013 mortgage statement includes a payment coupon with instructions
to detach and return it “with payment in the enclosed envelope.” [Dktl@39 Under the
rationale ofGburek each of four documentsere sent in connection with the collection of a
debt.

Ocwenbankruptcy dis@dimers daot change tis analysis. Applying the unsophisticated
consumer standard to similar communications, District Courts in this Circuit rqufindl the
sort of disclaimer Ocwen supplied here insufficient to demonstrate thatrttreusocations were
not connected to the bection of a debt as a matter of laBee Harrer v. Bayview Loan Sery'g.
LLC, No. 15CV-4075, 2016 WL 6995559 at *2 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 30, 2016) (collecting cases).
This Court agrees with the reasoning of its collesgespecially in light of the Seven@ircuit's
analysisin Gburek of “the commonsense inquiry of whether a communication frookelat
collector is made in connection with the collection of any delburek 614 F.3d at 385.As
in Harrer, “commonsense” says that despite the disotr,thelanguage in the notices of default
and the mortgage statement establish that the communicationsinveomnection with the

collection of a debt.
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The Court thus turns tawhetherthe communications violatedl 1692e and § 1692by
misrepresentinghe status of the deldeekingamounts not authorized by contract or law, and
threateningforeclosure if amounts were not paid by certain deadlin®s discussed abov§,
1692e prohibits debt collectors from using “any false, deceptive, or misleadnegarfation or
means in connection with the collection of any del®pecifically prohibited conduct includes
falsely representing “the character, amount, or legal status of any debt” 15 §.S.C.
1692e(2)(A). Section 1692f prohibits a debt collector from using “unfair or unconslgonab
means to collect or attemfu collect any debt.” Specifically prohibited conduct includ€she
collection of any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, or expenskentai to the
principal obligation) unless sh amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the
debt or permitted by law.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(1).

Again, when determining whether a debt collector has violated Section ©692the
guestion is analyzed from the perspective of the “unsophisticated consureh,577 F.3d at
800; McMillan v. Collection Professionals, In&t55 F.3d 754, 759 (7th Cir. 2008he Seventh
Circuit recognizeshree categories @ 1692e cases: (Wyhere theallegedly offensive language
is plainly and clearly not misleadin{) where thelanguage is not misleading or confusing on
its face, but may potentially mislead the unsophisticated consanm#(3) where the language is
plainly deceptive or nsieading.Lox, 689 F.3d at 822When a case falls into the third category,
a plaintiff may prove her case without the need for extrinsic evideBee. Ruth577 F.3d at
801. Ocwen’s argumentsotwithstanding Gritters’ 8 1692e and f claims fall into the third
category because thayepremise ontheclaimtha Ocwen misrepresented the deBtcording
to Grittels, because Ocwen assessed foreclosure attorneys’ feestivelydmad already been

included in the modified loas’new principal, it overstated the amount of the indebtedness.
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Such a misrepresentation wouldrhaterial becausé could lead an unsophisticated consumer to
pay more than she owed, or to act in a way she would not have otheBeisd.ox689 F.3d at
827, Evoryv. RIM Acquisitions Funding, LL.G05 F.3d 769, 775 (7th Cir. 200But for all the
reasons discussed with regard to Gritters’ contract claingrioeint of Gritters’ debt is disputed.
Accordingly, to the extent the cross motions seek sumjodgment on this portion of Gritters’
FDCPA claim, they are denied.

As to thereference tdoreclosure litigationhowever, no genuine issue of material fact
remains, and summary judgment for Ocwen is grantedhileWthe default notices informed
Gritters that her failure to bring the account current could result in Ocwen’s tpofsai
foreclosure Gritters offers ncevidence that Ocwen did not have a right seek foreclose at that
time. To the contrary, Gritters does not dispute thaing the timen which the notices were
sent, she was over three months behind on her mortgage payments. [Pl Resp. Ocwen6SOF 11 6
59.] A threat of litigation in itself does not violate the FDCR#&;be actionableif must be a
threat of litigation in the absence ofright to take such action. 15 U.S.€8.1692(e);accord
Aker v. Bureaus Investment Group Portfolio, No. 15, LING. 12CV-3633, 2014 WL 4815366
at*5, n. 7 (N.D. lll. Sept. 29, 2014).

§1692el1l

Gritters’ 8 1692e(11)claim based on OcwenBebruary 18, 2018nortgage statement
alsofails as a matter of lawSection 1692e(11) requires a debt collector to disclose in its initial
communication that it is a debt collector, that it is attempting to collect a debt, and that any
information obtained will be used for that purpose, and to disclose in subsequent
communicatios that the communication is from a debt collectoft is undisputed that the

challenged mortgage statement included the mandatory disclosure orkimdsdRelying on
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Vaughn v. CSC Credit SexyInc, No. 93CV-4151, 1995 WL 51402 (N.D. lll. Feb. 3, 1995),
Gritters argues that the disclosure nevertheless vague and confusing because it is “nearly
impossible to read” and buried on the back side of the document without any directant bo fr
read the back. Vaughndoes not stand for the proposition thacksided disclosue are
inherently confusing to an unsophisticated consumer, nor does this Court so cofitletsue
in Vaughnarose from the nature of the debt collectatisclosure, not simply its placement.
There, the debt collectatisclosedin light gray ink that the debtor had thirty days in which to
dispute the debt on the back side of a documenirihaain textdemandedh payment or phone
call within seven dayslt was thejuxtaposition of two contradictory deadlines anstructions
that led tothe conclusion that thetter was deceptive and misleading as a matter of Temthe
contrary here, there is nothing inherently contradictory or confusing in Ocwen’s dise|asor
is it “nearly impossible to read” as Gritters says. [Dkt 201 at 14.] Ratheacks the statutory
disclosurdanguageappears in the same size and darkness as the resdottimentand is set
off from surrounding texin its own text box. Under these circumstances, no reasonable
factfinder could find the mortgaggatement failed to include the statutory disclosure.
ICFA

Gritters’ IFCA claim also fails as a matter of law because dbeductof which she
complainsis either not actionable, or simply duplicates her breadownfract claim “A breach
of contractual promise, without more, is not actionable under the Consumer Frauddkety
v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. C&35 N.E.2d 801, 844I(1 2005. The ICFA is “not intended to
apply to everycontract dipute or to supplement evebyeach of contract claim with a redundant
remedy.” Greenberger v. Geico Geims. Co, 631 F.3d 392, 399 (7th Cir. 2011) (affirming

dismissal of ICFA claim with prejudice where it duplicated contract claim). Awoer fraud
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claim under ICFA requires “more than a gardamiety breach of contract.’Id. (citing Avery,

835 N.E.2d at 844.)To establish an ICFA claim, Gritters must present evidence of “unfair or
deceptive conduct [that is] distinct from the alleged breach of the contracaisp.”
Greenberger 631 F.3d at 400. To the extent this count is premised on claims etven
provided conflicting information “in every statement or collection letten”that she “did not
understand what she owed,” and that it dowlygped and was “unfair’by charging her
foreclosure feeshe did not owethese allegains simplyrestate thallegedbreach. Seeid. at

399. To the extent Gritters’ claim is based on Ocwen’s advice that she consult with an
accountant, or the claim that Ocwen falsely told her the foreclosure case waghewneit had
remained pending, thes#aims do not give rise to ICFA liability “[l]t is not possible for a
plaintiff to establish proximate cause [under the ICFA] unless the plaiatifsbhow that he or
she was ‘in some manner, deceived’ by the misrepresentatibeBouse v. BayeAG, 922
N.E.2d 39, 315 (lll. 2009) Gritterscites no evidence from which she could make such a
showing.

Moreover,to the extent Gritters’ claim is based on alleged misrepresentations bynOcwe
about the status of the forecloswaseduring an April 1, 2010 telephoreall, it is beyond the
statute’sthreeyear statute of limitations.See815 ILCS § 505/10a(e). Further,any timely
representationsegarding thependencyof the foreclosure actiorcould not support an ICFA
claim. Contrary to her characterizationone of the cited communications S#lye foreclosure

case was over in April 2010,” but ratitBey refer more generaltp the status of foreclosure and

> Additionally, Gritters’ declaration on thigoint conflicts with her previousdeposition
testimony that she did not know about the foreclosure action until about a yeahaftear
modification. Beedkt 2153, Gritters Dep. at 51:043.] A declaration submitted at summary
judgment contradictig an earlier depositiomwill not create an issue of material factSee
Pourghoraishj 449 F.3chat 759.
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activity on the accountlt is undisputed that Ocwen considered the foreclosure status resolved
upon completion of the loan modification and directed its counsel accordingly. [Pl Resm Ocwe
SOF 1 § Additionally, whether the foreclosure caseemained pending vea matter of pblic
record and not something about which Ocwen possessed exclusive knowledge. Instead, the
status of the case wadiscoverable through the exercise of ordinary prudence by the plaintiff
Randels v. Best Real Estate, |n812 N.E.2d 984, 988 (lll. App. 2d Dist. 1993 Summary
judgment for Ocwen on this claim is granted.
RESPA

Ocwen argues summary judgment on Gritters’ RESPA claim is appropecdade there
is no evidence it collected excessive escrow amounts or failed to refund aw ssi@lus and
the record establishes it compliedth RESPA’sacknowledgment and response requirements
Grittersdoes not respond with any argument about the application of escrow bundsgues
only that sheestablishesa RESPA claimfor Ocwen’s failue to adequatelyrespond tofive
Qualified Written Reques{sQWRS’), onesent by her, anfbur sent by the Office of the lllinois
Attorney General. According ©©cwen none of the letters constitute QWRIiggering response
obligationsunder the statutsince Gritters cannotshow she controlled the lllinois Attorney
Generak Office and noneof the lettersvere sat to Ocwen’s designate@WR address.Even if
the lettershad triggeredits response obligations under RESR@¢wen adds, it adequately
responded to each.

The statute defines a QWR as “written correspondence, other than notices on at payme
couponor other payment medium supplied by the servicer,” that includes certain yaentif
information and‘includes a wtement of the ssons for the belief of the borrower, to the extent

applicable, that the account is in error or provides sufficient detail to theeseregarding other
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information sought by the borrower.” 12 U.S&2605(e). Within 60 daysf receipt of a
QWR, the servicer must take one of three actions: either (1) make appropriateé@wracthe
borrowers account and notify the borrower in writing of the corrections; (2) invéstitee
borrower's account and provide the borrower with a written clarificatido ady the servicer
believes the borrower's account to be correct; or (3) investigate the borraeetlataand either
provide the requested information or provide an explanation as to why the requestadtioh

is unavailable.Seel2 U.S.C. § 2605§€2)(A), (B), and (C).No matter which action the servicer
takes, the servicer must provide a name and telephone number of a representatiseroictre
who can assist the borroweBeeid.

Ocweris argumens that Gritters’ letters categorically failed totrigger response
obligations under RESPA fail in short orddfirst, relying on adistrict court decision defining
agency under lllinois law, Ocwen argues there is no evidenceGiig¢rs and the lllinois
Attorney Generahad a pincipalagent relationship, or that Gritters could “control the Office of
the lllinois Attorney General as her agent.” [Dkt 218 at1¥#3] Ocwen’s argument imposes
underRESPA obligations not set forth in the statute. RESPA does not define the mefaning
agentfor purposes of QWRssee§ 2605(e)(1);see also8 2602 (definitions), so the Court
interprets “agent” in accordance witts ordinary meaningSee Sebelius v. Clg&i69 U.S. 369,
376 (2013. As the Seventh Circuit observed@atalan v. GMAC Mortg. Corp629 F.3d 676,
688 (7th Cir. 2011),“Any reasonably stated written request for ac¢anformation can be a
qualified written request.” Indeed the Seventh Circuit had ificudty in Catalanin finding
RESPA's response requiremetriggeredoy HUD’s forwarding ofaborrower’s complaint letter
to the defendanthere See d. Just as HUD didor the borrowerin Catalan the lllinois

Attorney Generas Office acted on Gritters’ behalfy forwarding her requests to Ocwen and
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requestingresponses Notably, the record reflects Ocwen treated each request as QWRs
triggering its acknowledgment and response obligations under the statute.

SecondQOcweris assertion that its “noticeswhich predate the letters from the Attorney
General- onthe other hand are commands, rather than invitations or mere options, to use the
designaed address different from that which Gritters and the Attorney General's Office
employedis plainly contradicted by the record[Dkt 218 at 1§ None of itsfive cited
documentscontain acommand. Insteadgachsimply include a listing of “correspondence
addresses,and a request to “please address all correspondence to Ocwen Loan Seril€ing, L
to the attention of the appropriate departmenk’g[,dkt 18915, 19018.] Moreover,several of
the citedstatementsire datedafter the lllinois Attorney General'detters [Id.] “[I]t is a mind
boggling notion that the designation of axclusiveaddress could possibly be retroactive in
effect.” McClain v.CitiMortgage, Inc, No. 15CV-6944, 2016 WL 26956&t * 6 (N.D. Ill. Jan.

21, 2016).

The Court thus turns to an assessment of the parties’ correspondutedly, Gritters
does not argue that Ocwdniled to respond; sherguesonly that “no investigtion was
performed” in response to her QWRs, and that “any investigftionreasonablenvestigation
would have at least led to a proper credit or refund from the $496.78 in fees applied to
foreclosure fees.” [Dkt 201 at 23While this sort ounsupported allegation might survive at an
earlier stage in the case, it is insufficient to survive Ocwen’s summary jutigmogan

Theundisputedecord reflects that Ocwen provided substantive responses to each of the
five QWRs Gritters’ first letter did not ask a specific question; rather, it generallyuthkd
assessed fees, processing timing and alleged dbillohg. [Dkt 2028 at 910.] Ocwen

responded with a copy of Gritters’ payment history showing “wlements were received and
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applied to the loan,” and stated that “fees assessed to the loan are Jdliét' 1] Although
Gritters argueghat this response did not address her inquires or explain fees, she fails to identify
a specific query to which Ocwen did not respond, and it ddo@caid from the face of the
communications that a reasonable factfinder could@nogen’s response deficieht

Gritters second letter raised sever@sues regarding her home being listed in
foreclosure, duplicative fees and late fees. Ocwen respamdiedail, explaining the imposition
of late fees and stating that “foreclosure proceedings were stopped on April 28, 20%0eaft
loan was reinstate’ [Id. at 18.] Although Gritters complains that Ocwen did not adequately
respond to her request for an accounting or explanation of court fees and costtgmdods not
specificallyask for thosehings. [d. at 1416.]

Gritters’ third letterquestioned her monthly payment amount, and her suspense account.
[Id. at 2224.] Ocwen responded with an explanation of the payment amount and how an escrow
deficiency affectedt. [Id. at 2627.] It also enclosed a “detailed Payment Reconciliation
histay.” [Id.] Here too,she complains that Ocwelid not address her concerns, bléfails to
identify a specific issuéo which it didnot respond Any such failure is not evident from the
correspondence.

Gritters’ only specific complaint abo@cwen’s response to her fourth letter is that it
“mocked Gritters by recommending the assistance of a ‘certified aecaurf she still had
questions. [Dkt 201 at 20.] RESPA does not provide a remedy for this issue.

Gritters’ fifth letter requestednformation regarding application of paymgntise of
suspense accounts and fees attached to the ac¢@kit202-8 at46-48.] Ocwen responded by

providing a payment reconciliation history and an explanation of its cadesgellNationstar’s

® Gritters also complains that Ocwen incorrectly stateat the foreclosure had closed, but
RESPA does not provide a recovery for any sstekement
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contact ifiormation since servicing of the loan by that pdiat been transferred therfld. at
5153.] Once againGritters complains that Ocwen’s response was insufficient but speuifies
issue Ocwen failed to address.

BecauseGrittershas notdemonstrated an issue of material fgbporting her claim that
Ocwen failed to conduct any investigation, summary juddgrfee Ocwen is granted
Breach of Fiduciary Duty Claim

Finally, Ocwen argues Gritters puts forward no evidence from which fiquéedility
could arise. [Dkt 191 at 2P2.] Grittershas not opposed the motio®nce a party has made a
properly supported motion for summary judgment, the opposing party may not simply rest on he
pleadings, butmust instead submit evidenchowing there is a genuine issue for trial.

Accordingly, Ocwen’s motion on this counis granted.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Defendant Pierce & Associates, P.C.’s Motion for
Summary Judgment [18%5lenied Plaintiff’'s Motion for Summary Judgment Against Defendant
Pierce & Associates, P.C., [196]dgsanted Defendant Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC’s Motion for
Summary Judgment [188] is granted in part and denied in part, and Plaintiff's Motion for
Summary Judgment Against Defendant @awoanServicing, LLC, [200] is granted in part

and denied in partA statis is set foMay 8, 2018 at 9:30 a.m.

Date: 4/13/2018 g

Jorge L. Alonso
Unhited States District Judge
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